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Figure 2: Locality

CORKS

LANE

Mitton Town Hall Conservation Management Plan

Introduction
This Conservation Management Plan was commissioned in May 1999 by
Shoalhaven City Council,

A Conservation Plan was required by Council to ensure that appropriate
long term decisions are made with respect to the conservation, ongoing
maintenance, redevelopment and future use of the Milton Town Hall and
surrounding curtilage

The content and format of this report follow the guidelines of The
Conservation Plan by J S Kerr and the assessment of significance is
based on the State Heritage Inventory criteria of the NSW Heritage
Office as foilows:

Part 1 Investigate Significance
Part 2 Assess Significance
Part 3 Manage Significance
Part4 Conservation Policy
Part 5 Implementation Strategy

Scope of this Report

In accordance with the Brief, Parts 3,4, and 5 of this report are presented
as a cursory overview only, to enable conservation management issues
to be analysed in further detail in future when redevelopment of the
property or change of use is proposed

Objectives of this Conservation Management Pian
In summary the objectives of the report are to:

» Establish the cultural significance of the Milion Town Hall, its
outbuiidings and component parts.

» Fommuiate approprate policies for the conservation and ongoing
management of the former School of Arts building, taking into
account both the significant physical fabric and the ongoing usage
requirements.

* Determine guidelines or constraints for appropriate development of
the building, and site whilst acknowledging the significance of the
building, its immediate curtilage and its contribution to the
streetscape.
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Study Area
The study area is the Council owned Lot 2 DP 151175 and its immediate
curtifage as defined by the boundaries of this allotment.

The study area is bounded by the Princes Highway to the North East,
Milton Theatre to the North West Councit Car park and the Milton
Village Cultural Cantre to the South West, and a pharmacy to the South
East

Study Team
Figure 3

The Study Area The study team comprises:

Bruce Dawbin of SIMPSON DAWBIN, Architects and Heritage Consultants
Censultant Historian: Robyn Florance

Client Representatives:

John Drummond, Manager Property Services Group and
Lorraine McCarthy, Property Services Group, Shoalhaven City Council

Acknowledgements:
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Shoalhaven Historical Society

John Fiett, Planner, Shoalhaven City Councit
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction

This Conservation Management Plan was commissioned by the
Shoalhaven City Council for the conservation and ongoing management
of the Milton Town Hall

The significance of the site is now widely acknowledged, and this report
seeks to identify the nature of and relative levels of significance
applicable to the building and its component parts, and establish
appropriate conservation policies. The assessments of significance take
into account historical documentary material, and physical examination of
the fabric of the building.

Preliminary recommendations regarding maintenance priorties have
been prepared

Summary of Recommendations

The Assessment of Significance has determined that the building has a
high level of Historical, Social and Aesthetic significance This report
generally recommends that the Mitton Town Hall should be appropriately
conserved and maintained. Its present role as Milton Library provides a
community focus but as this service is a part time extension of the
Ulladulia Library, Council shouid investigate alternative options for future
use which increase community access and appreciation of the buiiding.

The major outcomes include the following:

» The building fabric should be appropriately conserved using advice
from conservation professionals and appropriately  qualified
tradespeople.

* Guidelines are proposed for appropriate ongoing conservation,
management and maintenance of the precinct.

»  Significant elements of the interior, the old Hall now the Library
should be restored to original form and materials:

» Policies are proposed which recognise the contribution of the building
fo the streetscape and the historical fabric of the township of Milton

SIMPSON DAWBIN Architects and Heritage Consuftants 5
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PART 1: INVESTIGATE SIGNIFICANCE

The first step in the process of assessing the heritage significance of the
Milton Town Hall and its site is to acquire a comprehensive
understanding of the history of the site, in the context of the broader
social history of Milton and the Shoalhaven. This involves the assembly
of all relevant available documentary material, including photographs,
surveys and drawings

The physical fabric of the building and existing configuration of the site
were inspected. The building revealed a clear account of its history and
usage, providing confirmation of the available documentary evidence.

1.4 DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE:

Historical Background
Robyn Filorance

Historical Background
Robyn Florance

Witton Historical Background

Milton is located 60km south of Nowra, on a ridge, with magnificent views
of the sea to the east and the mountains to the west. It was originally
called The Setflement which is thought to be an interpretation of an
aboriginal word “narra warra”, meaning a good place to settle '

Cedar getters were the first European amivals in the area and Rev
Thomas Kendall settled at Narrawaliee in 1828 north of Boat Harbour
(Ulladulla) and east of The Settlement? The poet Henry Kendall was born
on the family property just outside the town of Mitton in 1839,

Timber was the principle industry of the early days, with cedar and
different types of hardwood and sawmills were operating by the 1850s
As the land was cleared, wheat, maize and other crops were grown, while
dairy cattle and pigs were introduced. The district was soon self sufficient
and surplus produce was shipped from Boat Harbour to Sydney.

At The Settlement in 1856 John Booth had established a produce depot
and inn, the Traveller's Home, south of the fater town, at the junction of
Croobyar and Woodstock Roads. Later Booth purchased 16 hectares to
the north from Joseph Whatman, who had established himsslf in the
district in 1852, at Myrtle Forest Farm.

In 1860 on Whatman’s grant, Booth laid out a private town bounded by
Thomas Street to the north, Croobyar Road to the south, Church Street to
the east and Myrtle Street (named after Whatman’s Forest Famm) {o the
west. He named the new township Milton probably after ‘Mitton Hall’ in
Bedfordshire, the residence of John Booth's cousin, Major Phillip Booth.
The streets being named after friends, relatives and remembered
places *

! Clark Alan (Ed) Viflages of Shoalhaven, Shoalhaven Tourism Board,

Nowra, nd. p. 18

% Mition & District Historical Society, Nulfadofla 1988, Milton & District
Historical Society, Milton, 1988

* Nulladolia 1988 op cit. p 18
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John Booth, born investor and speculator, moved an to become a
leading produce merchant of Sydney naming his private residence in
near Moore Park “Milton”. One of his thirteen children, Jane Maria bom at
the Travellers Home Inn married Samue! Horden of Brickfield Hill.
Another descendant is John Malcoim Fraser, one time Prime Minister of
Australia ¢

The Settlement Post Office cpened in January 1860 in the residence of
George Knight The Anglican Church of St Peter & St Paul was dedicated
the following August and the first general store in the township of Milton
was opened by Frederick Hall in December the same year. Geoige
Knigh;( resigned and Frederick Hall was appointed Post Master in October
1861

Most of the town’s allotments sold at once and by 1866 the town
consisted of The Star Hotel, 17 dwellings, two churches and a schoo! with
a population of 80 °

In January 1874 a branch of the N.S W. Government Savings Bank was
opened at the Post Office. The following December Henry Bilackburn
purchased Frederick Hail's store and became Milton’s third Post Master

The Post & Telegraph Office for Milton was completed by 1880 The
Milton Court House

The town is the centre of a prosperous agricultural area which in the early
years depended on contact with Sydney by sea from Ulladulla, some four
miles distant Early settlers such as the Kendall family owned their own
ships, but commercial transport only became regular with the
establishment of the Hlawarra and South Coast Navigation Company after
1852 A stone pier was completed in Ulladulia in 1865 which greatly
facilitated commercial links with Sydney.

In recent years the town has declined as a local shopping centre and in
the main street now are tea rooms, craft shops, antique and gift shops.
Milton has been classified by the National Trust (1986) as an historical
village and a Seftlers Fair is held annually during the October long
weekend. Milton is interesting, both scenically and historically, to walk or
drive around, and there is a variety of craft shaops in the main shopping
centre.

The School of Arts Building

The Mitton (Ulladulla) Mechanic's Institute was formed in 1869 and by
the end of 1870 the committee had decided o built a Schoal of Arts Hall
Mr T.O. Chater was the successful architect and tenders were 500N
called for the erection of the hail’ Eight tenders were received and after
the lowest one was withdrawn, the second lowest, Mr John Porter's
tender of £695, was selected. The contractor being bound o complete
the work by the 31st December 1871 2

An article published in The Shoathaven News on 18 November 1871
under Ulladulia District News reporis on the erection of the Ulladulia
School of Ants.

* Nuliadolia 1988 op cit. p 19

® Nulfadolia 1988 op cit. p 54

¢ Baillierre F F ., Baillierre’s Gazefteer 1866

" The First Tender Notice appeared in The Shoalhaven News, 24th
December 1870

® The Shoalhaven News, Saturday April 22, 1871 District News

SIMPSON DAWBIN - Architects and Heritage Consuftants 7
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The article is hard to read as several strips of newspaper print have been
pasted over the pages “ . The Miffon.. course of erection. The contractors
are bound fo complete the building by the end of February. The
handsome building is to be 48 x 26 feet The height 17feet The
committee room and library, one on each side of the hall - x 12fest. The
platform-—of the hall, wilf be 13 x 8 feet The building is being builf of
brick on sandstone foundations, .”

As the building neared completion the committee set a date the 1st May
1872 for the official opening™ but due to unforseen circumstances the
buitding was not ready. Although the building was completed by July it
was not officially opened until the following month'".

The neat brick and stone building opened after neary four years of fund-
raising and was well situated in the main street of Milton, the commercial
centre of the Municipality. The inaugural address was delivered by the
President of the School of Arts and Mechanic's Institute, Mr William
Martin at the official opening on 13th August 1872 "

Ulltadulla residents, whose New School of Arts overtooked the harbour
and opened some six months earlier did feef some resentment toward the
Mitton residents ™ The district now had two Schoo! of Afts buildings
within four miles of each other

The Municipality of Ulladuila was proclaimed on 14th April 1874 and the
provisional council met on 24th June that year at the Miiton School of Arts
and elected Alderman D Warden as its Mayor. At its July meeting,
Councif accepted the offer of the Milton School of Arts committee for the
continued use of the hall as a Council Chambers at £8 per annum. ™

in March 1902 at a special meeting of the School of Arts members it was
decided to erect a billiard room and obtain the necessary requirements
for carrying on a billiard club *°

In his publication Memoirs of Mollymook, Milton and Ulladulla, Alex
McAndrew records the reminiscences of Bert Bishop whose father was
the owner/editor of the Ulladuifa Mitton Times from 1903 to 1921

" In 1903 my father, Herbert Bishop, bought the Milton Times and we
moved from Moruya, where my father had worked on the Moruya
Examiner. We lived in a house called “Verata® in Wason Street [next door
fo present day Tumbull's Anfiques]. There were two big general stores in
Mitton at that time: Blackburn & Sons and Pickerings A1 Cash Siore.
Next to the Times office was Pearman’s Boot and Shoe Shop. The next
shop was Miss Allens’s. She was a dressmaker and also sold drinks and
confectionery. Then came Blackbum's which extended over four shop
fronts, then a dentist, a solicitor, Buchan’s butcher shop, then an estate
agent and auctioneer on the corner of Wason Strret. Along the main
streef was Jack Boag's butcher shop, then the shop of Rupert Cork and
his father who were auctioneers and estate agents. Then came Jack
Bartlett's leather and saddlery business - he also had a bike agency. Next
door was the littfe house of old Miss Thomas, one of fthe first coftages

® The Shoalhaven News, Safurday 18 November 1871

" The 5th General Meeting of the Committee

"' The Shoalhaven News, 27th July 1872 Sons of Temperance held a
meeting in the Hall _

"2 Antill R G., Settlement in the South, Weston & Co., Kiama, 1982, p
125

*® Nullodofla 1988 op cit p. 48

% Nullodulla 1988 op.cit.p. 48

" Shoalhaven Telegraph 12th Marc h 1902
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buift in Milton. Stanpan Cork’s cordial factory was next door, then a
blacksrmith who did all sorts of repair work, then a boarding house run by
an ofld lady, and a chemist shop. After that was Francis’ Saddley and
Leather Shop. He was also caretaker and librarian for the School of Arts
next door. The last shop was Perry's Tailor Shop.

On the other side of Main Street was Pickering’s Store, the Court House,
Plice Station and Court of Petty Sessions, the 2-storrey Post Office, then
a big boarding house. The Commercial Hotel was on the corner of Wason
and Main Streets. Then an empty shop.The Council Chambers were in
Wason Street and then sheds and cattle yards..."®” _

In May 1904 Acetylene Gas lighting was installed in the building by Mr J
Litttewood. This involved faying pipes for the gas and the installation of a
generator "

in 1923 the committee proposed that a new hall be erected beside the old
one™ and plans were sent to the Department of Public Works and
negotiations for the purchase of the old School of Arts by the Ulladulla
Municipal Councit began.

After much deliberation by Council the oid hall was purchased by
Utiaddlla Municipal Council as a Council Chambers for £800 in June
1927." Alterations were carried out at that time by J. and W Ramon and
probably included the change of leftering on the facade from “Schoo of
Ants” as it appears in oid photographs to *Town Hall”, as it is today =

The new School of Arts Hall was built of wood and fibro with an iron roof
and was completed by July 1927.%" This building is now the Milton
Cinema In preparation for the new building, the ante room to the norh
east was demolished,

The neat Milton School of Ants, alias Town Hall stands in Mitton's main
street, housing the Milton branch of the Shoathaven Library The Ultadulla
School of Arts was demolished in 1969 to be replaced by the modemn
Civic Centre, with public halls, the Ulladulla Library and the Tourist
Centre.

The Builder - John Porter

John Porter, Master Joiner, came to Melbourne from Liverpoot, Engiand
in 1860-61. He was a builder and stairwright by trade and came to help
his cousin, John Morgan, build the Lighthouse at Geelong. When gold
was found at Lambing Flat (Young) he went to try his fuck, but finding no
gold, bought a horse and set out for Sydney and thence to Milton, where
he resumed his trade of builder, crafting much of the cedar fumiture and
staircases for many homes in the district and the Mitton School of Arts 2

® McAndrew Alex Memoirs of Mollymook, Milton and Ulladulla, The
Author, Epping, 1989, pp 117-118

"7 Shoalhaven Telegraph 27th March 1904 & 11th May 1904

¥ New School of Arts File, '

Correspondence dated 10/8/1923 File 17/3565 File 4284

" Sate Records NSW File 17/3565 File 4284 New School of Arts Hall
2 Milton & District Historical Society Notes re Milton School of Arts

?! Comrespondence from Roland Simmons, Police Station Milton dated
27th July 1927, reporting that the hall had been completed. State
Records File 4284 New School of Arts Hall Milton 17/3565

? Ewin Joanne, Meet The Pioneers , The Author, Milton, 1991,p 177

SIMPSCON DAWBIN Architects and Heritage Consuffants 9
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He 100K up a selection north-west of Miton calfed the “Duck Hole” and on
28th August 1870 married Mary Guthrie, the daughter of Thomas Guthrie
of ‘Guthries Camp’ nearby

John Porter also had 198 acres at Narrawallee in 1885 and a small farm
at East Milton. The Guthries had aiso lived at Bristol Farm and the
Watertrees on the Woodburm Road.

John and Mary had twelve children™:

1 John who discovered the Poseidon gold fieid in Victoria, the day

Poseidon won the Melbourne Cupin 1908

Alice

Thomas married Esther Marion Higgins of ‘Avondale’ and moved to

Queensiand.

May married George Halliday

Elizabeth married William Kenna

Catherine (Sister Kitty Porter) served four years in the war zone in

Egypt and France during the First Word War. She was only home

three weeks before she died She was posthumously awarded the

Medal of the Royal Red Cross.

7. Charles married Betty Blacklaw and moved to Queensland

8. William marmied Gertrude Turnbuil

9. Annie married Charles Stephens);

10 Edna (Tot) n.m.

11.Henry (Hamry) mamied Constance Phillips. He inherited “The Duck
Hole” and bought “Hilltop” and also owned *Kermington™ at one time
along with several other properties around Milton.

12 Stephen married Stella Cork and joined his brothers in Queensland.

RN

TN

John Porter died on 24th November 1930 and is buried in the Methodist
portion of the Sandridge Cemetery* His wife Mary is buried in the
Roman Catholic portion of the same cemetery ?

2 Meet The Pioneers op cit. p. 178

* Dunn Cathy, The Methodist Church of Milton-Ulladulta, The Author,
Mitton, 1994, p. 50

% Dunn op.cit. p. 59
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s store, a slab hut where the Westpac Bank is today

The main street of Milton in its early history, showing T Mischell’
and the School of Arts building.
Phoio courtesy of I Wallace Milion

Mitton Main Street ca 1890
and 1999
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1.2 PHYSICAL EVIDENCE,

Introduction
This Section describes the physical fabric of the Milton Town Hall within
the boundaries of the Council holding.

Intactness of the Building

The building as it exists in 1999 remains generaily intact in its original
form with the major exception of the north west annexe demolished for
the civic centre This adjacent building has imposed considerabie impact
on the Town Hall building and supplanted its prior prominence in the
streetscape.

Internally the building has suffered extensive aiteration, repairs resulting
in replacement of original fabric and intrusion of services

Stages of development:

Year Physical development Events

1872  School of Arts, original construction Opening 13 Aug

1872  Municipality of Ulladulla, Use as Council
Chambers

1802 Erection of Billiard Room extension

1823 Propese new hall
adjacent

1927  Purchase of Building as Council Chambers
Demoiition of North west Ante Room

1827  Completion of new School of Arts Hall, tater Cinema

1869  Building occupied by Shoalhaven library

SCHEDULE of BUILDING ELEMENTS

Location No Ejement Name

A1 The Streetscape B1 Entry

A2 Site boundaries B2 Library/Hail
A3 South Elevation B3 Staff Area
Ad East Elevation B4 Hailway
A5 North Elevation B5 Hallway
A West Elevation B6 Ante Room
A7 Roof 87 Side Porch

A8 Landscaping

SIMPSON DAWBIN Architects and Heritage Consuftants 12
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